

Connections: English Language Arts

Developing Critical Readers, Writers, and Thinkers with the Science of Reading and the Learning Sciences



PERFECTION LEARNING®



Middle and high school literacy Setting students up for success

By Kathleen Richards

For today's middle and high school students, the importance of becoming skilled readers and writers cannot be understated. Written language is an essential tool that allows for asynchronous communication, allowing information and ideas to be shared in a way that transcends space and time. Essential reading, writing, and analytical skills are prerequisites for higher education and careers that will enable students to thrive in life. These skills are developed over the course of a student's entire academic career, and the benefits of strong literacy skills are realized early on and continue to compound over time.



Table of Contents

Middle school and high school literacy: Setting students up for success 1
The challenges of adolescent literacy
Providing effective ELA instruction based on the Science of Reading and the Learning Sciences
About Connections: ELA
ELA skills depend on the development of cognitive processes that increase in complexity
Supporting Cognitive Development with Connections: ELA
Reading complex texts supports the development of higher-order cognitive processes
Reading Complex Texts with Connections: ELA
Reading, writing, speaking, and listening rely on shared knowledge bases and cognitive processes
Integrating Language Domains with Connections: ELA
Skilled reading results from the strategic execution of multiple skills
Background Knowledge
Developing Background Knowledge with Connections: ELA
Vocabulary
Developing Vocabulary with Connections: ELA
Language Structures
Developing Knowledge of Language Structures with Connections: ELA
Verbal Reasoning
Developing Verbal Reasoning with Connections: ELA
Literacy Knowledge
Developing Literacy Knowledge with Connections: ELA
Students learn the most when instruction is responsive to their skill diversity 32
Goal Setting with Connections: ELA
Ongoing Formative Assessment and Feedback with Connections: ELA
Differentiated Instruction with Connections: ELA
Engagement and motivation are essential to ELA development in middle and high school
Facilitating Engagement and Motivation with Connections: ELA
Connecting research and practice with Connections: ELA
References



In middle and high school, reading and writing aren't just the domain of English Language Arts (ELA), but also have a significant impact on how much students can learn and succeed in their other classes. While elementary students are mainly focused on developing the foundational literacy skills necessary for translating written text into speech, students in middle and high school must develop more advanced literacy skills that allow them to learn from and become critical readers of text. At this point, much of the knowledge students are expected to acquire comes from content-area reading, and writing becomes the mode through which students are expected to demonstrate their knowledge. Many students in the U.S. struggle with acquiring these advanced literacy skills, as evidenced by poor performance on the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP). The most recent 2022 results show that only 31 percent of eighth graders performed at a Proficient or Advanced level on NAEP Reading, while 30 percent performed at a Below Basic level (Figure 1). These scores represent a decline in reading achievement since the last NAEP administration in 2019, which was already alarmingly low before the school disruptions of the COVID-19 pandemic took effect (Figure 2). Students have fallen behind in reading, and less than half of teachers surveyed during the 2022 NAEP administration felt quite confident or extremely confident in their ability to address the learning loss that may have resulted from pandemic-related school closures (U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, 2022).



263*

O260

122



Figure 1: Eighth grade NAEP Reading performance dropped in 2022 compared to 2019

263*

ASSESSMENT YEAR



'02'03 '05 '07 '09 '11 '13 '15 '17 '19

280

260

240

260

497 494

10.8

3pts

compared to 2019



Clearly, a focus on learning recovery is critical at this point in time. Students who struggle with grade-level literacy in middle school will likely continue to struggle in high school and college. High school dropout rates are closely linked to literacy achievement, as struggling readers and writers have a hard time keeping up with the demands of high school (Biancarosa & Snow, 2006). Moreover, many students who do finish high school and are admitted to college arrive unprepared for the demands of the complex texts they'll need to read to complete their degree: only 41 percent of high school graduates who took the ACT in 2021–2022 read at the level required to succeed in first-year college courses (ACT, 2022).

Beyond schooling, literacy not only impacts an individual's initial earnings, but also their rate of earnings growth, likely because a person's level of literacy moderates the degree to which they are able to continue to learn and grow in a professional capacity (Reder, 2010). Literacy improves the welfare of individuals and of society as a whole: UNESCO has made worldwide literacy a key part of its 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development because it "enables greater participation in the [labor] market; improved child and family health and nutrition; reduces poverty and expands life opportunities" (UNESCO, 2022). At the heart of it, a more literate society is a more equitable society.

The challenges of adolescent literacy

Given the central importance of strong literacy skills to success in school, career, and life, why aren't more middle and high school students becoming successful readers and writers? While students in these grades are expected to read, analyze, learn from, and write about increasingly complex texts, the emphasis on literacy instruction decreases in middle and high school. Much of the literacy demands placed on students come from the content areas, but content-area teachers are not typically trained in literacy development, nor do they see literacy instruction as part of their subject areas (Greenleaf & Heller, 2007). There is a wide range of skill diversity among adolescent readers, from students who continue to struggle with foundational reading skills, to those who can decode well enough but struggle to comprehend, to those who are challenged by providing a deeper analysis of a text's structure and meaning (Biancarosa & Snow, 2006). Students also come to the classroom with different levels of English proficiency, with disabilities or special needs, and with different cultural backgrounds and life experiences. Teachers who may be unprepared to provide grade-level literacy instruction face an even greater challenge when they need to identify and address this diverse range of student characteristics equitably. Moreover, while motivation is a key factor in literacy development, motivation to read can be in short supply among adolescents, particularly among those who have struggled with literacy in the past (Kamil, et al., 2008).



Middle and high school teachers face challenges when it comes to adolescent literacy; effective pedagogical approaches and materials are essential to addressing these challenges. Decades of research into the Science of Reading and the Learning Sciences shed light on how people learn to read and write and what instructional approaches best facilitate this process; selecting an ELA program based on this science is a critical step in ensuring successful reading and writing development in middle and high school.

Providing effective ELA instruction based on the Science of Reading and the Learning Sciences

Concerns about low levels of literacy and its consequences have led to increased interest among educators and caregivers in pedagogical practices rooted in the Science of Reading and the Learning Sciences. The Science of Reading (SoR) is an interdisciplinary body of scientifically based research about how people learn to read and write, derived from fields including developmental psychology, educational psychology, cognitive psychology, cognitive neuroscience, and linguistics. This decades-long, international, and cross-linguistic body of research sheds light on reading development, sources of difficulty in learning to read, and pedagogical practices that support reading. A key element of SoR is that the research uses scientifically-sound experimental and guasi-experimental methods that enable researchers to test hypotheses and draw tenable conclusions about what caused the results (The Reading League, 2022). The Learning Sciences (LS) is also an interdisciplinary field that focuses more generally on understanding how people learn and which educational approaches are effective. LS also relies on scientifically based research from fields including educational psychology, cognitive psychology, computer science, linguistics, anthropology, special education, and educational technology. These two bodies of research can be used to guide the design of effective instructional experiences for middle and high school students. Key findings include:

- ELA skills depend on the development of cognitive processes that increase in complexity.
- Reading complex texts supports the development of higher-order cognitive processes.
- Reading, writing, speaking, and listening rely on shared knowledge bases and cognitive processes.
- Skilled reading results from the strategic execution of multiple skills.
- Students learn the most when instruction is responsive to their skill diversity.
- Engagement and motivation are essential to ELA development in middle and high school.

In the following sections, the research behind these key findings will be discussed, and their implementation within Perfection Learning's *Connections: English Language Arts* (*Connections: ELA*) program for grades 6–12 will be highlighted.



About Connections: ELA

Connections: ELA is a core English language arts program that provides instruction in grade 6-12 standards for reading, writing, speaking and listening, and language. Connections: ELA units are organized around an Essential Question, which thematically connects the literary and informational texts that students will read in the unit. Each chapter within a unit focuses on reading a text using a three-part close reading instructional routine that engages students with a different skill-based learning Objective for each reading, including understanding the main ideas of the text; analyzing the word choices, structures, and techniques the writer uses to communicate; and critically evaluating the text as a whole. Students read and annotate text multiple times to uncover deeper levels of meaning. The three close reading lessons include a set of Focus On practice activities in which students organize and reference textual evidence as they respond to the text; collaborate with peers through in-person and online discussions; synthesize evidence, ideas, and analyses in a writing task; and share responses with a partner through speaking and listening activities. Writing and Language Minilessons are also included with each chapter to provide comprehensive instruction and practice in written communication, grammar, and vocabulary. Formative and Summative Assessments, including Project-Based Assessments of writing, research, debate, and presentation skills, are provided at regular intervals throughout each chapter and unit to support teachers in making instructional decisions and evaluating mastery.



ELA skills depend on the development of cognitive processes that increase in complexity

The goals of ELA instruction in middle and high school range from developing basic reading comprehension and writing skills to reading and writing critically and analytically. National standards for middle and high school ELA include objectives targeting lower-level skills like explicit text comprehension (e.g., "Cite textual evidence to support analysis of what the text says explicitly as well as inferences drawn from the text") as well as higher-order skills, such as evaluation of the structure, quality, and veracity of information in a text (e.g., "Delineate and evaluate the argument and specific claims in a text, assessing whether the reasoning is valid and the evidence is relevant and sufficient; identify false statements and fallacious reasoning") (National Governors Association Center for Best Practices & Council of Chief State School Officers, 2010).

To help educators classify wide-ranging educational objectives for instruction and assessment of learning, educational psychologist Benjamin Bloom developed a hierarchical taxonomy of cognitive processes that range from simple to complex (Bloom, 1956). While the original taxonomy contained categories like "knowledge" and "comprehension," the taxonomy was updated in 2001 with categories like "remember" and "understand" that better capture the dynamic nature of these cognitive processes (Anderson & Krathwohl, 2001). The revised taxonomy is shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3: Bloom's Revised Taxonomy



The lower levels of Bloom's taxonomy focus on the simpler processes of remembering and understanding; the middle levels build on these basics with application of knowledge and skills to new contexts and analysis of structures and connections between concepts; and the higher levels include metacognitive skills like evaluating and critiquing information and its presentation as well the creation of one's own works. Literacy instruction is most effective when skills are developed explicitly, systematically, and cumulatively, from simple to complex, connecting new skills to what was previously learned (Cowen, 2022). Building curriculum around these hierarchical levels clarifies the goals of learning for teachers and students and provides a developmentally appropriate pathway to acquiring increasingly higher levels of skills and knowledge.

Close reading is an instructional approach that scaffolds students' ability to engage with text in increasingly complex ways, supporting systematic development of cognitive skills. According to Brown and Kappes (2012), close reading "involves an investigation of a short piece of text, with multiple readings done over multiple instructional lessons. Through text-based questions and discussion, students are guided to deeply analyze and appreciate various aspects of the text, such as key vocabulary and how its meaning is shaped by context; attention to form, tone, imagery and/or rhetorical devices; the significance of word choice and syntax; and the discovery of different levels of meaning as passages are read multiple times" (p. 2). Studies of close reading in middle and high school have found that repeated reading of complex, grade-level texts; use of a gradual release of responsibility instructional framework; annotating text while reading; responding to text-dependent questions; and discussion of the text have positive impacts on reading comprehension (Fisher, 2014; Fisher, Frey, & Hattie, 2016; Paddle & Woolett, 2020; Janus, 2017).





Supporting Cognitive Development with Connections: ELA

Connections: ELA's three-part close reading instructional routine, shown in Figure 4, supports explicit, systematic, and cumulative development of cognitive processes across the levels of Bloom's taxonomy using complex texts

Close Reading Task	Active Reading Focus	Skilled Reading Strategies
First Read: Focus on What?	What is the main idea?	 What is this mostly about? Which ideas are most important? What message is the author trying to share? What words or phrases stand out as important?
Second Read: Focus on How?	How does what the writer communicates support his or her purpose?	 How do details develop the main idea? What types of language (figurative language, repetition, rhyme) does the writer use to create meaning? From what point of view is the story told? Who is narrating the story? How do the sentences/paragraphs in the text relate or fit together? How does the structure of the text emphasize the ideas? Do I see causes/effects? problems/solutions? claims/reasons?
Third Read: Focus on Why or Why Not?	Why is this text important or meaningful to me— or to others?	 What can I learn from the text that will help me understand the world? What can I learn that will make me a better writer? Why is (or why isn't) this informational text convincing? Why is (or why isn't) this work of literature meaningful? How does this text connect to other texts? Where have I seen this theme before? How do other presentations of this text (movie, artwork, etc.) communicate the theme in similar or different ways?

Figure 4: Connections: English Language Arts Three-Part Close Reading Instructional Routine



The structure of the close, repeated reading routine mirrors Bloom's Taxonomy. The first read targets remembering and understanding by focusing students on the main ideas of texts; the second read targets applying and analyzing by examining the author's use of structure and language to achieve the purpose of the text; and the third read targets evaluating and creating by exploring the greater meaning and importance of the text and reflecting on aspects of writing that can inspire the student's own creative process. After the third read, Project-Based Assessments challenge students to create their own works with research, writing, and presentation projects (Figure 5).

Table of Unit 2: Chapter 10	le 6	the second second	
Contents V Unit 2: Chapter 10 Project 2: Write a New Ending			
Project-Based Assessment Write a New Ending			
Imagine a different ending for The Diary of Anne the phone? What events would show that Anne w scene you studied in this chapter. It must begin v Amsterdam.	Frank. For instance, what mig as right about people's good ith the same characters in th	ht have happened if Mr. Frank had answered ness? Write a scene that could replace the e same situation, hiding in the secret rooms in	
First, decide what is different in this version of the	scene. You could have a cha	aracter reveal something important. You could	
introduce a new character to provide information would be the same? How would the characters r connects with the rest of the play.	or take an action that affects espond to these events? Be	CONNECTIONS J English Language Arts, Grade 8 Table of Contants + Unit 1: Chapter 3 Project 2: Cultural Diversity Essay	
Next, begin writing. Make sure the dialogue accu new character speaks and acts appropriately to t	ately reflects the tone and la ne time and place.	Project-Based Assessment Cultural Diversity Essay	
Remember to include stage directions. Where an props are in the room? What is the mood of the s letters, italics and boldface print, or ellipses whe	e the characters during the s cene? Follow the format of the necessary.	Write a two-page essay about cultural diversity in your neighborhood, town, city, or sta personal experience, but you may do research to confirm facts as necessary. For exar of the area you are writing about. Follow these steps:	te. Your essay should be based on mple, the population and demographics
Use the	following guidelines for you	 Choose the purpose of your essay. Are you writing to inform, persuade, or enterta Plan your essay. Write an outline that includes an introduction, three to four supp 	ain? orting paragraphs, and a conclusion.
To receive the highest score, the script must meet all of these criteria.	Your script provides a new endir adds to a theme, plo play. follows the format for dialogue and stage is free of errors in sp	Your introduction should state the main idea of your essay. Your supporting para; support the main idea. • Conduct research, if necessary, but only to confirm facts. The essay should be b use first-person point of view. If you use any sources, cite them appropriately, per • Write a draft of your essay (typed, double-spaced). Then check it carefully for gran errors. • Revise your draft and proofread it. • Post your final essay to Google Docs or another shared site for peer and/or teac	graphs should include details that ased on your personal perspective, so ryour teacher's instructions. mmar, spelling, punctuation, and other her review.
		Use the following guidelines for your essay	
		To receive the highest score, the essay must Your presentation	-
CONN	ECTIONS English L	To receive the highest score, the essay must Your presentation anguage Arts, Grade 11	oduction, three to four supporting
	ECTIONS] English L Table of Unit 2: Chapter Project 1: Wome	To receive the highest score, the essay must Vour presentation anguage Arts, Grade 11 7 an's Right Presentation essment	oduction, three to four supporting n. shares your point of view. cultural diversity.
	ECTIONS) English L Table of Contents V Unit 2: Chapter Project 1: Wome Project 1: Wome Project 3: Wome Project 1: Wome Project 1: Wome	To receive the highest score, the essay must Vour presentation anguage Arts, Grade 11 7 an's Right Presentation essment sentation	oduction, three to four supporting n. phares your point of view. cultural diversity. s. punctuation, and spelling.
CCONN Elizab oppor	ECTIONS.) English L Table of Contents Unit 2: Chapter Project 1: Wome Ect-Based Asse nen's Rights Pres eth Cady Stanton and S tunity for girls and wome	Lio receive the highest score, the assay must Vour presentation anguage Arts, Grade 11 7 and Right Presentation essment sentation Sojourner Truth were two women who worked to bring equal en in America and around the world.	bduction, three to four supporting n. Lihares your point of view. cultural diversity. 2, punctuation, and spelling.
CCONN EV Vor Elization Rese inform	ECTIONS Unit 2 Chapter Frometer Project 1: Work Ender Standard Assection Ender Standard Assec	To receive the highest score, the essay must Vour presentation anguage Arts, Grade 11 7 81's Right Presentation essment sentation Sojourner Truth were two women who worked to bring equal en in America and around the world. ked in the past or who is currently working for women's rights. Gather reputable sources.	oduction, three to four supporting n. phares your point of view. cultural diversity. a, punctuation, and spelling.
CCONN EV Vor Elizatio oppor Rese inform Creat S V V V V S Including	ECTIONS.) English L bake of contents Unit 2: Chapter Project 1: Wome ect-Based Asse nen's Rights Pres- eth Cady Stanton and S tunity for girls and wom- arch a woman who work atton from at least five r a digital presentation f tummary of the subject' What or who influenced i What obstacles did she bri low did the change influ What sources did you us ources you consulted in a well-chosen details a ing headers. photonran	To receive the hindest score, the essay must	oduction, three to four supporting h. cultural diversity. p punctuation, and spelling.

Figure 5: Connections: ELA Project-Based Assessments give students an opportunity to demonstrate higher-order cognitive skills of evaluation and creation



Connections: ELA supports the development of increasingly complex cognitive skills by using a gradual release of responsibility instructional approach in which the teacher first models the target skill, then provides scaffolded support as the students attempt the skill, and finally releases students to perform the skill independently, shifting the responsibility from the teacher to the student over time. The interactive edition includes a set of digital annotation tools that facilitate the text-dependent analysis required for more advanced levels of comprehension by allowing students to circle, underline, and make notes on text as they read, and reference their annotations when completing higher-order tasks, such as using textual evidence to support their responses (Figure 6). Whole- and small-group discussions, both in-person and online, are guided by text-dependent questions, supporting engagement and critical thinking (Figure 7).

CC	CONNECTIONS English Language Arts, Grade 11									
≡	Table of Contents	Unit 2: Chapter 7 Second Read: Understanding Rhe	toric					Resources 🔻	Tool	s v
	Read	Discuss	🔎 Focus On	🖌 Check	1		Notebook	Teaching	Supp	ort
				1		Q	. Τ			
L	Understand	ling Rhetoric				≣	Read			•
	With a partner, ta	ke turns reading the spee	ch paragraph by paragra	iph.		U	we have gone over a in favor of a sixteent	all the argument	5	
	Objective: Afte	r you read each paragrap	h, discuss the following:				logos			
	• What is t	he central idea of the par	agraph?						1	ŵ
L	 Does Sta 	anton mainly appeal to pa	thos (emotion) or logos (logic)?		T	last twenty years			
	 How doe 	s this paragraph relate to	the ideas in the previous	s paragraph?			central idea - we've this for a long time	e been talking a	about	
L	Solitude of S	Self							1	<u>a</u>
L	by Elizabeth Cad	y Stanton (speech, 1160L)					repeat			
C	Mr. Chairman and gentlemen of the committee: We have been speaking before Committees of the									
- · ·	Judiciary for the last twenty years), and we have gone over all the arguments in favor of a						1	<u>۵</u>		
L	sixteenth amendment which are familiar to all you gentlemen; therefore, it will not be necessary									
L	that I should	peat them again.					Discuss			•
	The poin	· <u>U</u> <u>U</u> D P	Save Cancel Lis the	individuality of each hum	an soul:	0	Add Note			

Figure 6: Connections ELA text Annotation Tools support engagement with complex text and text-dependent analysis

CCONNECTIONS] English Language Arts, Goode 6	and the same of th	CONNECTIONS.) English Language Arts, Grade 8	CONNECTIONS 2 English Language Arts Grade 11
Elevent → Uni2 Council Stabilitation Council of Strangers Analys Elevent → Discussion (or → Council of Strangers Analys) Elevent → Discuss (or → Council of Strangers Analys)	Penage Related	Table of Consens Unit 1: Chapter 4 Third Read Analysing Noins of View	Table of Unit2 Chapter 7
Subset to the second s	Home to be the second	First Prove Provem Prove the Prove the	Contract P cours P rous 0n ✔ Check ■ Read ● Decons P rous 0n ✔ Check Discussion Questions: Answer the following questions about the passage. 1. What point is the author making through her use of opposites at the end of paragraph 87 ■ Read ■ Read ■ Read Enteryour response here.
		Inter does Obern one enginess imaging and language to support to point of view? Z = N = U = N = N = N = N = N = N = N = N	2. Define sout. How does the repetition of the word sout affect the meaning of this speech?

Figure 7: Connections ELA text-based discussion questions support engagement and critical thinking

Reading complex texts supports the development of higher-order cognitive processes

Middle and high school students need to read increasingly complex texts to prepare them for the reading demands of college and career and to support the development of the higher-order cognitive processes at the upper levels of Bloom's taxonomy. While the standards-based expectations for reading comprehension focus on related objectives across grades (e.g., "Cite textual evidence to support analysis of what the text says explicitly as well as inferences drawn from the text" in grade 6 versus "Cite strong and thorough textual evidence to support analysis of what the text says explicitly as well as inferences drawn from the text says explicitly as well as inferences drawn from the text says explicitly as well as inferences drawn from the text, including determining where the text leaves matters uncertain" in grade 12), the complexity of the texts students are expected to read in demonstrating mastery of the standards steadily increases across grades, forming a spiral in which similar skills are continually revisited at higher levels to enable and hone more sophisticated analyses of text (National Governors Association Center for Best Practices & Council of Chief State School Officers, 2010).

To ensure students are reading texts at an appropriate level to support continued cognitive development and prepare them for reading in college and career, text complexity analysis is necessary. There are many factors that make texts more or less complex, including decodability, syntax, vocabulary, cohesion, coherence, and the familiarity of the underlying ideas and concepts to the reader (Graesser, McNamara, Louwerse, & Cai, 2004). The authors of the Common Core State Standards developed a three-part model for evaluating text complexity, which includes analysis of quantitative levels, qualitative features, and reader and task characteristics (National Governor's Association Center for Best Practices & Council of Chief State School Officers, 2010). Quantitative leveling is evaluated using readability formulas, which look at surface features such as sentence length, word length, and word frequency: texts with longer sentences and words and less common words are generally more difficult to read than texts with shorter sentences and words and more common words. However, quantitative measures cannot evaluate aspects of text complexity that pertain to the ideas in the text, the structure, or the knowledge demands required to comprehend it. Thus, texts are also evaluated against gualitative criteria by human reviewers to determine whether the content features are appropriate for supporting the learning goals of a particular grade level. Finally, both qualitative and quantitative features of text may be experienced as more or less complex depending on the characteristics of the reader or the reading task. A student with a high degree of background knowledge on the topic will likely find a text easier to understand than a student who has no knowledge of the topic, and a text that is considered "difficult" for a student's grade level may be more manageable with scaffolded tasks that support basic comprehension and guide more advanced text analysis.



Reading Complex Texts with Connections: ELA

Connections: ELA text selections are leveled using quantitative measures, qualitative criteria, and reader and task considerations. Quantitatively, *Connections: ELA* texts are leveled using the Lexile measure, which evaluates surface-level text complexity based on sentence length and word frequency (Metametrics, 2022). Ranges and median Lexile levels of *Connections: ELA* texts are shown in Figure 8, along with the ranges suggested in the Common Core State Standards by grade band (National Governor's Association Center for Best Practices & Council of Chief State School Officers, 2010).

Grade Band	<i>Connections: ELA</i> Lexile Ranges (Median)	Common Core Lexile Ranges
6–8	550-1440 (1040)	955-1155
9–10	420-1790 (1155)	1080-1305
11–12	540-2150 (1125)	1215-1355

Figure 8: Quantitative text complexity of *Connections ELA* texts

Connections: ELA text selections cover a wide range of Lexile levels. While the median Lexile levels of the texts closely correspond to the ranges suggested in the Common Core, some texts fall above and below these ranges. For instance, the eleventh and twelfth grade text selections in *Connections: ELA* include a 540 Lexile piece from *1984* by George Orwell as well as a 2150 Lexile piece from "The Emancipation Proclamation" by Abraham Lincoln.

Lexiles are particularly sensitive to word frequency and sentence length, which are only one aspect of text complexity, particularly in middle and high school when most students are proficient in translating text into speech. The Orwell piece demonstrates the importance of qualitative considerations when leveling texts. Qualitative factors that impact text complexity include its levels of meaning; how explicit the ideas are; how simple or conventional the structure is; how literal, clear, and informal the language is; and what the background knowledge requirements are (National Governor's Association Center for Best Practices & Council of Chief State School Officers, 2010). Orwell is known for his simple and concise writing style, and while a 540 Lexile level is considered a second- to third-grade level, when considering the concepts addressed, the levels of meaning, and the historical and cultural background knowledge needed to understand it, *1984* is clearly more complex.

The Lincoln speech, on the other hand, demonstrates the importance of reader and task considerations in evaluating text complexity. "The Emancipation Proclamation" is a speech from the mid-1800s that deals with complex political topics and includes lengthy sentences and uncommon words. However, in the context of *Connections: ELA*'s scaffolded close reading routine, students are more capable of comprehending texts that might be too difficult to understand on their own. Thus, *Connections: ELA* texts are selected based on a combination of qualitative leveling and quantitative features and matched to an appropriately challenging skill focus that enables students to stretch beyond their current capabilities as they grow into independent readers and thinkers.

PERFECTION LEARNING®

Reading, writing, speaking, and listening rely on shared knowledge bases and cognitive processes

The four modalities of language—speaking, listening, reading, and writing—are not totally distinct skills, but capacities that rely on shared knowledge bases and cognitive processes. Though written language skills (reading and writing) are dependent on earlier oral language skills (speaking and listening), they also have an impact on the development of more advanced oral language skills (Shanahan, 2006). When it comes to reading and writing, the relationship is even more reciprocal: reading and then writing about a topic reinforces learning about that topic; writing provides readers with first-hand experience in how text is constructed, which improves text comprehension overall (Graham & Hebert, 2010); and reading improves writing performance by providing models of well-written text (Graham, et al., 2017). Because the four language modalities rely on shared knowledge and skills such as vocabulary, syntax, and discourse organization, integrating instruction across modalities is an efficient way to reinforce shared skills.

Integrating Language Domains with Connections: ELA

Each chapter of Connections: ELA addresses all four modalities of language. The three close reading lessons focus on reading a text multiple times to understand its explicit and implicit meanings, analyzing the contribution of its structural and linguistic features to meaning, and evaluating its larger meaning and significance in the context of other texts, media, and the cultural milieu. Students write in response to reading text while completing the Focus On practice activities, and they engage in longer writing tasks through the Project-Based Assessments, such as researching and writing an argumentative essay modeled after the argumentative text they have just read and analyzed (Figure 9). These writing projects come with step-by-step instructions and clear grading rubrics to support students in implementing the features of effective writing that they have observed while reading text. Speaking and listening are integrated into each of the three close reading lessons via a Discussion activity: students first respond to text-dependent discussion guestions in writing, and then they engage in partner or group discussions in which they are encouraged to build on one another's ideas and potentially revise their responses based on what they learned during the discussion. Language lessons that follow the three close reading lessons provide explicit instruction and practice in topics that support all four of the language modalities, including grammar, vocabulary, punctuation, spelling, and genre-specific language features.

		- (

Table of Unit 3: Chapter 13 Contents Project 1: Op-Ed			Resources 👻	Tools 🔻
Project-Based Assessment				- 1
Op-Ed				
An op-ed is a written opinion published by a newspaper or magazine that typically appears an issue of importance.	opposite the editorial page. It has a	named author and fo	cuses on	
Research the following question. Then write an op-ed for your local newspaper. • What is the proper role of government, if any, in helping large groups of workers replace	ced by robots?			
Follow these steps to help you.				
 Read two op-eds from a local newspaper. Study how an op-ed is written. How does it s information does it give? 	start? How does the opinion develop	? What reasons and		
Research. Find three reliable sources on how governments have assisted workers wh Take careful notes and put the ideas into your own words.		🕽 English La	nguage	Arts, G
 Once you've done research, state your opinion on the question above. Write your op-ed. It should be between 200 and 300 words. Ask two people to read your op-ed and dive you feedback. Revise your op-ed based on 	the Table of Contents	Unit 1: Chapter 4 Project 2: Argume	ntative Essa	ay.
Check your writing for mistakes in grammar usage, punctuation, transitions, and spell	Project-Ba	sed Asse	ssmer	nt
Lies the following guidelines for				

Your op-ed • includes a clearly s • acknowledges an • demonstrates the

uses evidence to s
uses correct gram

Argumentative Essay

The argumentative essay requires you to research a topic, collect information, and evaluate evidence in order to establish a position. For this assignment, generate a question of your own about the effect of technology.

Examples include the following:

- How does technology affect a global economy?
- How does technology affect higher education?
- How does technology affect the way we understand privacy?

Follow these steps to write your argumentative essay.

- Thoroughly research your question, using current, reliable sources. Take notes on all pertinent
 information, including statistics, logic, and anecdotes. Keep track of your sources and write a proper
 Works Cited page.
- Write a clear thesis statement so you know what you are planning to claim. Make sure it is not too broad and it is something you can argue in a two-page paper (around 500 words).
- Write an introduction that first presents the topic and its importance before stating your position.
 Limit each body paragraph to one idea that supports your position. Include well-researched and relevant information.
- · Include a paragraph that presents and refutes an opposing point of view.
- Write a conclusion that expands upon your thesis and reveals more than you did at the beginning (otherwise the reasoning is circular and the argument is redundant). Convince your reader that your topic and your point of view matter. Leave your reader thinking about the topic.

CONNECTIONS English Language Arts, Grade 9

Table of Unit 3: Chapter 11 Contents Project 2: The American Indian Experience

To receive the highest score, the op-ed must meet all of these

 $\overset{\sim}{\succ} \quad \mathbf{B} \quad \mathbf{U} \quad \boldsymbol{\sigma} \quad \overset{\scriptstyle}{\mathbf{A}} \quad \mathbf{v} \ \equiv \ \equiv \ \boldsymbol{u} \quad \boldsymbol{\omega} \quad \boldsymbol{\times} \quad \boldsymbol{?}$

Write your op-ed below.

nter your resp

Ξ

Project-Based Assessment

The American Indian Experience

Victor, the narrator of the events, describes the hardships that many American Indians face in modern America. He reveals the prejudice and poverty that many live with every day.

Fill in the chart with your conclusions about the Native American experience

What is the Native American experience of life in America (including stereotypes)?	What details from the text support or deny this conclusion?
Some American Indians struggle with alcoholism.	Victor's dad drank a gallon of vodka a day.
	The noise of the white girls throwing up reminds him of his father's hangovers.
Some American Indians live in poverty.	Enter your answer
The education at some schools on the reservation is inadequate.	Enter your answer

When you have finished, write an essay about how the story describes what life is like for some American Indians. Support your conclusions with direct quotations from the excerpt. Your essay should be three to five paragraphs long and should include at least two conclusions supported by the text. Begin with an introduction containing the main idea and end with a conclusion. Use the rubric below to evaluate your essay.

udelines for your argumentative essay.

- Your argumentative essay must • be two pages (at least 500 words) with at least five well-developed paragraphs.
- include an opening paragraph that introduces the
- topic and convinces the reader of its importance. • include well-researched evidence.
- present multiple viewpoints.
- leave no questions or doubt regarding your point of view.
- offer a conclusion that shows how your viewpoint matters.
- be free from errors in spelling, grammar, punctuation, and usage.

Figure 9: Project-Based Assessments include extended writing activities connected to the texts that students have read and analyzed



Figure 10: Speaking and listening skill development is integrated with reading and writing about text via Discussion Questions that students answer individually and then share with a partner or group

Skilled reading results from the strategic execution of multiple skills

To understand how people learn to read and why difficulties arise, researchers have developed and tested theoretical models of the skills used to read and comprehend text. Hollis Scarborough developed the reading rope, which shows how the two major strands of reading—word recognition and language comprehension—intertwine over time to become increasingly automatic and strategic, resulting in fluent reading with comprehension (Figure 11) (Scarborough, 2001). Word recognition and language comprehension are dependent upon one another; as psychologist Louisa Moats states, "A child cannot understand what he cannot decode, but what he decodes is meaningless unless he can understand it" (Moats, 2020, p. 15).



Figure 11: Scarborough's (2001) Reading Rope



The reading rope shows how the two major strands break down further into subskills, which also develop in tandem and reinforce one another. The word recognition strand includes *phonological awareness*, which is the ability to identify and manipulate the sounds of language and is a precursor to decoding, in which the sounds of language are linked to letters and blended into words. Abundant decoding practice and study of irregular words results in *sight recognition*, or the ability to recognize words automatically. Automatic word recognition frees up cognitive resources to focus on comprehension of the text's meaning, which is essential for students to make the transition from learning to read text to reading to learn from text (Rasinski, 2004). Thus, word recognition skills are generally the domain of elementary school, while in middle and high school, much of the demands of reading lie in the language comprehension strand.

Language comprehension development begins at birth and continues through elementary school, but its importance increases as the language of texts becomes more complex and less similar to speech. Indeed, most struggling readers in middle and high school have issues with comprehension, not with word recognition (Biancarosa & Snow, 2006). Language comprehension relies on *background knowledge*, or knowledge of the world needed to understand concepts in a text; *vocabulary*, or the meanings, uses, and relationships of words and phrases; *language structures*, including syntax and semantics; verbal reasoning, or the ability to go beyond the surface of the text to understand non-literal language and make inferences; and *literacy knowledge*, or knowledge of the purpose, structure, and organization of print. The following sections will take a closer look at the role of language comprehension sub-skills in reading and effective instructional approaches for developing them in middle and high school students.





Background Knowledge

According to the construction-integration model of reading, comprehension is an interactive process of integrating new information into existing knowledge to create a mental representation of the text, called "the situation model" (Kintsch, 1988). Writers must leave some things unstated and assume that the reader brings knowledge of the world to the reading task; otherwise, every book would have to begin with an explanation of how the world works. When Rachel Carson in *Silent Spring* writes, "The apple trees were coming into bloom but no bees droned among the blossoms, so there was no pollination and there would be no fruit," readers must draw on their knowledge of bees' role in growing fruit to understand why a lack of bees would have an impact on the harvest (Carson, 1962).

Background knowledge supports overall comprehension of text by providing the reader with a schema, or mental structure for information, through which to interpret the content (Rumelhart, 1980). In everyday life, people have schemas for activities like going to a restaurant, which offer guidance in where to sit, how to order, and which utensils to use when eating. When readers have existing knowledge of a topic, their schema helps them track the information in the text and enhances their ability to construct a situation model: in fact, research has shown that poor readers with expertise in the topic of a text can demonstrate equal or better comprehension than good readers without such knowledge (Schneider, Korkel, & Weinert, 1989; Recht & Leslie, 1988). Readers don't need to be experts in every subject to become good comprehenders: having high levels of broad, general knowledge is strongly correlated with reading comprehension because broad knowledge makes it more likely that the reader will have at least some pre-existing schema for the topics in the text (Cunningham & Stanovich, 1997). Knowledge also supports retention of text information because people learn by integrating new information into existing knowledge; existing knowledge provides a foundation upon which to build new knowledge learned from the text (Kintsch, 2009). Memory is reconstructive, and schemas help fill in the gaps of what is remembered less clearly from text by providing a cue to the types of information the text contained and how it was presented (Schacter, 2012).





Developing Background Knowledge with Connections: ELA

Given the importance of broad, general knowledge to reading comprehension, learning in the non-ELA subject areas, such as science and social studies, plays a major role in developing background knowledge, particularly for informational texts. However, background knowledge is such an important aspect of reading that it must be addressed within ELA instruction as well.

Wide reading on a range of topics is an effective strategy that ELA teachers can use to help build their students' background knowledge—the more students are exposed to new concepts and ideas, the more likely they'll be able to connect what they read to existing knowledge and integrate the new information, resulting in learning. *Connections: ELA* supports wide reading by providing a broad and diverse set of literary and informational reading selections that address topics such as current events (e.g., diversity in society, equality and justice, the impact of technology), universal themes (e.g., freedom, identity and the forces that shape us), and culture and history (e.g., the Native American experience, the role of women throughout history). A sample of *Connections: ELA*'s reading selections is shown in Figure 12.



Figure 12: Text selections in Connections: ELA that support wide reading and background knowledge development



In addition to building general background knowledge, ELA teachers can review specific background knowledge that is essential to understanding a particular text before students read it. As part of *Connections: ELA*'s close reading routine, students work through a *Preview Concepts* activity that pre-teaches (or frontloads) concepts that will help them comprehend the text. Teachers have access to *Background Notes* and *About the Author* within the Teacher Edition, so they can provide students with information on the time, location, and historical context of the text, as well as the author's background. *Tech-Connect Suggestions* provide links to additional sources of information related to the text to help students develop context for what they will read (Figure 13).

Table of Unit 4: Chap	ter 17			Resources - Too
Preview Concepts AE	Vocabulary	tions	Instructional Materials	-
			Tech-Connect Suggestions	
Proview Concept			Website	
In this chanter you will evol	ore the Essential Question: Why sl	hould you protect Farth and its	Website	
creatures?	ore are coordinated account. This of		Learner's Dictionary	
			Teaching Support	•
In this chapter you will also	1		J- Making Connections	
 use context clues and 	I word parts to determine the mean	ning of unfamiliar words.	Add Note	
 determine central ide analyze how sections 	as of a passage.	ntral ideas.		
 analyze text structures 	s used in a passage.			
Think about disasters that	have been in the news. Then comp	plete the chart with details about		
three natural disasters.	-			
Disaster	Who was affected by it?	Caused by nature,		
-		Tetter		
Enter your answer	Enter your answer	Enter your answer	:	
Enter your answer	Enter your answer	Enter your answer		
Latter your unswer	Lince your unoner	Linter your unswer		
Enter your answer	Enter your answer	Enter your answer		
Lines your unsites	Linter your unswer	Linter your unoner		
K				
and the state of the second				
	DNS] English Lan	iguage Arts, Grade 8	3	
CONNECTIC	DNS] English Lan	iguage Arts, Grade 8	3	
	Unit 4: Chapter 20	aguage Arts, Grade 8	3	
CONNECTIO	Unit 4: Chapter 20 Preview Concepts	nguage Arts, Grade 8	3	

Preview Concepts

In this chapter you will explore the Essential Question: What informs your decisions?

In this chapter, you will also

- · determine the central idea and supporting details of a text.
- analyze how supporting details develop main ideas.
- · analyze and evaluate the effectiveness of an argument.
- · understand some common fallacies.
- write an analysis of an argument or participate in a Lincoln-Douglas debate.

Read the following story and then answer the questions.

For the past three years, your football team has had losing seasons, winning only a few each year. This year a new football coach took over the program. Suddenly, you had a winning season. Thus, the old coach is the reason your team was losing.

Is the conclusion of the story logical? Why or why not?

 2° B U = A $\cdot \equiv \equiv \equiv : \boxplus \cdot \odot \times ?$

Figure 13: Preview Concepts activities, Tech-Connect Suggestions, Background Notes, and About the Author help students build and activate background knowledge relevant to the texts they read

Background: The Explosion of the Deepwater Horizon

In April 2010, an oil rig called the Deepwater Horizon, located in the Gulf of Mexico, exploded. This event led to the death of 11 workers. In addition to this tragedy, however, the damage continued-as crude oil lingered in the Gulf's waters, affecting nearby ecosystems In the aftermath, many wondered how such a disastrous event could have taken place. After a long investigation, the owner of the rig, British Petroleum (BP), accepted responsibility. BP blamed the failure of several of their valves, as well as a malfunctioning gas alarm that could have warned the crew of the impending explosion.

Before the oil was finally contained, hundreds of thousands of gallons of oil spilled into the Gulf and surrounding areas. Countless animals, as well as their habitats, were negatively impacted by the oil spill. Scientists quickly tried to stop the damage caused by the explosion, but its effects still linger. While there is no longer oil on the water's surface, oil and the dispersants used to break up the oil still linger farther down. Scientists estimate that it could take at least a decade before the total impact of the oil spill can be properly assessed.

About the Author: Elizabeth Preston is a science writer living near Boston, Massachusetts. Preston spent many years as an editor for Muse, a science magazine for kids. She now works as a freelance writer, writing for blogs and other publications, including Wired.com, Jezebel, and The Boston Globe. Preston also has her own blog, Inkfish, which is published by Discover magazine.



continued







Figure 13: *Preview Concepts* activities, *Tech-Connect Suggestions, Background Notes*, and *About the Author* help students build and activate background knowledge relevant to the texts they read



Vocabulary

To understand a text's meaning, readers must understand the meaning of the words and phrases it contains. While vocabulary is often thought of in terms of breadth, or the number of words known, vocabulary depth, or the richness of vocabulary knowledge, may be even more important to reading comprehension because of the way vocabulary is organized and accessed in the brain (Willingham, 2017). Rather than discrete, dictionary-like entries, vocabulary is represented as interconnected conceptual networks that include pronunciation, (multiple) meanings, usage, parts of speech, morphemes, and related words. Each time a word is encountered, the entire network is activated and the activation spreads to related concepts, so students with richer networks can bring more knowledge to bear on comprehending the text and inferring what's not stated explicitly.

Educated adult native speakers of English know about 17,000 of the 58,000 base words in the English language, which amounts to learning about 1,000 words per year of childhood-too many to teach directly (Goulden, Nation, & Read, 1990). Most vocabulary is acquired through incidental exposure rather than through direct instruction, and by fourth grade, most incidental exposure to new vocabulary occurs via reading rather than speaking and listening because many words that are rarely used in speech are used more often in writing (Nippold, 1998; Webb & Nation, 2017). Incidental learning of vocabulary requires students to read voraciously because it takes many exposures to words in context to develop a rich and deep vocabulary network (Swanborn & de Glopper, 1999). As a result, those who lack vocabulary proficiency are likely to struggle with comprehending text and may miss opportunities to increase their vocabulary knowledge incidentally through reading. This cycle has been called a "Matthew Effect," based on a passage from the Gospel of Matthew about how the rich become richer while the poor become poorer. Indeed, students with greater vocabulary knowledge are better equipped to comprehend text and enrich their vocabulary by encountering new words in increasingly complex texts (Stanovich, 1986; Cain & Oakhill, 2011).

Although indirect exposure plays a larger role in building vocabulary, direct instruction enhances vocabulary acquisition because it supports students' comprehension of words in texts and helps them acquire complex words that are difficult to understand based on context. Effective direct vocabulary instruction targets high-utility academic and domain-specific words (Beck, McKeown, & Kucan, 2013) and covers not only the meaning and use of words, but also of word parts, or morphology. Morphology instruction is particularly efficient because it helps students determine the meaning of a large number of unknown words based on knowledge of a smaller set of word parts (Bowers, Kirby, & Deacon, 2010). For instance, if a student knows what a "sequel" is and knows what the prefix "pre-" means, they could determine the meaning of the word "prequel" when they encounter it in text.



Developing Vocabulary with Connections: ELA

Vocabulary growth results from a combination of both incidental exposure and direct instruction. To build a rich vocabulary through incidental exposure, students must read widely on a variety of topics; ELA teachers can encourage this aspect of vocabulary development by assigning texts containing words that are likely to be unfamiliar to students. *Connections: ELA* selections cover a broad range of literary and informational topics and include academic and domain-specific vocabulary words that challenge students to expand and enrich their vocabulary networks. Students encounter these words in context while reading, and *Connection:s ELA* also provides direct instruction of their meanings and usage. *Preview Vocabulary* and *Preview Academic Vocabulary* features provide teachers with lists and *Classroom Slides* of high-utility academic words from the text and domain-specific words needed to analyze and evaluate the text through writing or speaking. Teachers can pre-teach these words to support students in their subsequent reading and discussion of the text. Students have the opportunity to define and use these words in the *Passage Vocabulary* and *Academic Vocabulary* activities (Figure 14).

CONNECTIONS English Lan Table of Unit 1: Chapter 1	guage Arts, Grade 9		Preview Vocabulary: Ask students to circle unfamiliar words as they complete
Contents First Read: Suspens	eful Details		the First Read of the text, or preteach the
🚍 Read 🔊 Disc	cuss AE Vocabulary	D Focus On	them to use context to determine the
			words' meanings. Encourage students to
			support their responses with evidence. Have
Passage Vocabulary			them confirm their initial definitions with a
			dictionary. Words that students might find
The following words appeared i	n the passage you just read. Use	context in the passage to help	diffused sourced to be roft and spread
you determine each word's mea	aning. Match the correct vocabula	ry word for each definition.	out. The blinds diffused the light, making
stifled	accustomod	tondrile	the room dim and shadowy.
Juneu	accustomed	tentina	accustoments adjusted Bergung I
diffused	treacherous	honed in	am from a warm climate. I am not
dinasod	liouonorouo	noned in	accustomed to this cold weather.
			haned in forward on The teacher
			honed in on the student who was texting
			during class. Note: "Honed in" was once a
Vocabulary Word	Defin	nuon	mistake for "homed in" but now is more
	caused to be soft and sprea	ad out	widely accepted.
	adapted		tendrils: things that are thin and
L	adapted		curly. Tendrils of black hair framed her
	focused on		face.
	things that are thin and our		insinuated: to introduce subtly or
L	things that are thin and cur	y	stealthily. The sneaky dog insinuated its
	to stop or prevent the devel	opment of something	head onto the table and licked my plate.
	involving hidden dangers		stifled: to stop or prevent the
	intenning indden dangere		development of something. Maria stifled
			a yawn with her hand.
The following sentences contain aca drop the correct definition for each unit	demic vocabulary words you will need the list below.	o know for this lesson. Drag and	Preview Reading Vocabulary
			tromulaushy timidly or fourfully. The shild
the emotional feeling or atmosphere that a work of	main idea or underlying	the reason someone does	tremulously. timitary of jearjany. The child
literature produces in a	meaning of a merally work	aomenning	tremulously answered the police officer's
reader			questions about how the fire started.
a person who takes action that is against the law	a literary element that is the result of competing desires	an action that is against the Iaw	
	or the presence of obstacles		clamorously: noisily, loudly. The group
	that need to be overcome		clamorously sang their theme song as they set
			the song as they see
			up camp.
	Words in Context	Definition	
One <u>conflict</u> in <i>To Kill a Mock</i> society's) racism.	ingbird is Atticus Finch versus the ju	ry's (and	
He was charged with the crim	e of manslaughter in the death of his	wife.	Connections, Grade 12, Chapter 11, Vocabulary • © Perfection Learning® • Reproduction for classroom use only. Slide 4
Criminals never think they wil	get caught and have to pay the	,	(2/9 >
consequences when they are	breaking the law.		
I ne somber mood only increa	ised with the unexpected death of the	mann	

Figure 14: *Preview Vocabulary word* lists and *Classroom Slides*, as well as *Academic Vocabulary* and *Passage Vocabulary* activities, provide direct vocabulary instruction before and after indirect exposure to words through reading the text



Connections: ELA also provides morphology instruction and practice as part of Language lessons (Figure 15). Students are explicitly taught the meaning of individual, high-utility morphemes—prefixes, suffixes, and roots—and then practice using structural analysis to define and use unfamiliar words in context. Morphology instruction bridges both word meaning and grammar, or syntax (the focus of the next section, Language Structures): students learn how suffixes can change a word's part of speech and provide information about the word's function in a sentence. Because morphological awareness is particularly beneficial for ELLs developing their vocabulary, *ELL Support* suggestions offer games and activities to provide students learning English with additional exposure to and practice with morphemes.

CONNECTIONS English Language Arts, Grade 7

Prefixes, Suffixes, and Root Words

Earlier in the chapter, you learned about using context clues to determine word meanings. Another way to figure out unfamiliar word meanings is to analyze word parts and their meanings. Three tables highlight common root words, prefixes, and suffixes.

A root word is the base word. It contains the basic meaning of the word. A prefix is a word part added to the beginning of a word that changes its meaning. A suffix is a word part added to the end of a word that changes its meaning. Knowing what common prefixes and suffixes mean can help you figure out a word's meaning.

Look at each of the charts to become familiar with a few common roots, prefixes, and suffixes.

Root	Meaning	Example
aqua	water	aquarium
bio	life	biography
gen	birth, kind	generate, genre

CONNECTIONS) English Language Arts, Grade 7

Read these sentences from the article and use the information in the charts to write your own definition of the underlined word.

 Chimpanzees also <u>collaborate</u> and form alliances in fights or when hunting.

×	· B	U	8 A	· • =	≣	Ξ·	.	ෙ	×	?	
En	ter you	respo	onse h	ere.							
					_						
. Th	e "build	lina ble	ocks" o	of moral	itv hav	/e beei	n obse	erved	in no	n-h	uman
. The	e "build mals	ling blo	ocks" o	of moral	ity hav	ve beer	n obse	erved	in <u>no</u>	<u>n-h</u>	uman
. Th ani	e "builo mals.	ling blo	ocks" o	of moral	ity hav	/e bee	n obse	erved	in <u>no</u>	<u>n-h</u>	<u>uman</u>
. The ani	e "build mals.	ling blo	ocks" o	of moral	ity hav	ve beer	n obse	erved	in <u>no</u>	<u>n-h</u>	uman
. The ani	e "build mals. • B	ling blo	ocks" o	of moral	ity hav : ;≡	ve beer	n obse	erved	in <u>no</u>	<u>n-h</u>	uman
. The ani	e "build mals. • B ter you	ing blo	ocks" o	of moral L • ≡ ere	ity hav : 😑	ve beer	n obse	erved	in <u>no</u>	<u>n-h</u>	uman
. The ani En	e "build mals. • B ter you	u v respo	ocks" o 8 A onse h	of moral	ity hav : 😕	ve beer	n obse	erved	in <u>no</u>	<u>n-h</u>	uman



Language Studying root words, prefixes, and suffixes is an excellent way for students to learn and expand their English vocabulary. Have students create a deck of index cards with a word part on one side and examples on the back. Students might begin with the word parts in the chart and may use an online dictionary to find additional examples. Students can also add word meanings to the cards and use them as flashcards. Additionally, students can join with a partner to play one of the following games with the flashcards:

- Match It One student lays out all his/her cards with roots up, and the other student lays out his/her cards with the examples side up. Students take turns identifying the matching pair, one from each set.
- War Each student holds his/her deck of cards in his/her hands, and both students flip over a card. The first student to name



Retelevent Executing Surger Language Review affixers with strudents, noting that analyzing words parts is one way to decopter urdamilier words. Remind students that even if they can only recopitize and a laws(They can comb this knowledge with context due to figure out the meaning-Denis out the due and or unifixees. Note that

suffices are a due to a word's part of speech. For example, adding the world's aim to the verb confluer results in the noun confluent. Neter that the world's aim is allered examples and the second second and other noun suffices in the chart. Have them and particular second and version in a spectra and and version and spectra world have sufficient. Net that there are suits a aim or sufficient, including $-u_{-}^{-1}$ and $-imic_{in}$ and here students in advertise. In the students with advertise. In the students use advertise. In the students use advertise.

Support

Canguage have southers work in minutered pairs or groups to use the work parts to define the words. Record student responses on the board, correcting them as necessary. Provide more examples and solve them as a class if students need extra support.

Figure 15: *Connections: ELA* Language lessons provide direct instruction and practice in morphology and include additional support for ELL students



Language Structures

In addition to determining the meaning of the individual words in text, readers must be able to parse the syntactic and semantic relationships between the words. Syntax is grammar, which is represented by word order and punctuation. "John gave the book to Jill" means something different than "Jill gave the book to John," even though the words are the same. Semantics is the meaning of words and phrases as they combine to create the meaning and tone of the text. The phrase "It was a dark and stormy night" evokes a very different feeling and interpretation than "It was a cloudy, windy, and rainy night," even though the facts are essentially the same.

Implicit understanding of syntactic and semantic relationships in oral language develops naturally in young children. The language structures of early elementary school books are similar to what a child hears in oral language, so syntax and semantics are less of a challenge in early literacy development for native, typically developing speakers of a language, though explicit instruction may be necessary for language learners or students with disabilities at all grade levels (Nippold, 2017). By middle and high school, the language of texts becomes less similar to oral language as it becomes more academic. The syntactic features of written academic language are more complex, such as the use of multiple phrases and clauses within a sentence, and more compact, such as the use of nominalization, or transformation of words like verbs and adjectives into nouns (Snow & Uccelli, 2009). The sentence "You heat water, and it evaporates faster" is less syntactically complex than "The increasing evaporation of water is due to rising temperatures," though the meaning is similar. From a semantic perspective, written academic language tends to be precise, formal, abstract, and discipline-specific, resulting in the use of a wider range of less-common words with more specific and technical meanings (e.g., "rising temperatures" instead of "heat"). Understanding the semantic relationships between words within and across sentences helps readers develop a more nuanced interpretation of the author's message.





Developing Knowledge of Language Structures with Connections: ELA

Both fluent speakers and learners of English will need instruction to parse the syntactic structures and semantic relationships found in complex, academic texts. In *Connections: ELA*, after close reading the text, the Language lesson provides instruction in interpreting syntactic and semantic structures relevant to the text and prompts students to apply the target language skill of the lesson in writing (Figure 16). Syntactic instruction covers topics such as complex clause constructions, anaphora, parallelism, active and passive voice, parts of speech, and punctuation. Semantic instruction focuses on authors' language choices and their impact on tone and message, and includes topics such as sensory language, diction, dialects, and denotation and connotation. *ELA Support* in the teacher's guide provides instructional strategies to scaffold the learning of English language learners (ELLs) who may find the skill particularly challenging. Students also complete *Project-Based Assessments* to demonstrate understanding of the text through multimodal means, using standard English constructions in their work.

CONNECTIONS English Language Arts, Grade &				COLUMN AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AN	CONNECTIONS T English Language Arts Grade 12	
Table of Unit 3. Ongeter 12 Consent - Unit 3. Ongeter 12 Language Using Pronouns in the Connect Case				Factoriani * 2005 *		ELL Support
Using Pronouns in the Correct Case A pronoun is a word that takes the place of a noun, such a	s I, me, he, him, she, heç	or they. Pronouns a	ire organized into cases dependin	g on how they are	Table of Contents Unit 1: Chapter 4 Language: Syntax	Language: Diction Display these sentences:
If a pronoun is the subject of a sentence, it must be in the	subjective case. If a proni	oun is the object of a	a sentence, it must be in the object	ve case. Refer to the	Syntax	The interrogation of the woman was not
following chart and read the examples.			-		Syntax refers to the arrangement of words and phrases to create well-formed	what she had anticipated and thus she frowned upon the occasion
First Person	Secon	I Person	Third Person		sentences. Syntax is part of a writer's style.	The questioning of the woman warn't
Singular Plur	l Singular	Plural	Singular	Plural		what she thought it'd be, which made
Subjective (Subject) I We	You	You	He, She, it	They	Consider Jim Taylor's syntax in the following sentence from "Is Technology Stealing Our	her pretty upset.
Objective (Object) Me Us	You	You	Him, Her, It	Them	(Self) Identities?"	
Possessive My, Mine Our, O	ars Your, Yours	Your, Yours	His, Her, Hers, Its	Their, Theirs		Ask students the following questions:
Reflexive Myself Oursel	ves Yourself	Yourselves	Himself, Horself, Roelf	Thomselves	Paradoxically, in striving for approval by our social world writ large through technology	 Do the centercer express the same
					and in seeking uniqueness that enables us to stand out in the densely populated	deperal idea? (ves)
Incorrect: Her and me went to the school play. (The pro-	ouns are the subject of th	e sentence, but He	r and me are in the objective case.)		cyber world, we unwittingly sacrifice our true self-identities and shape our identities to	Which sentence is more formal? (the first
Correct: She and j went to the school play. (She and / an	the subjects of the sent	ence. She and / are	pronouns in the subjective case.)		conform to what the digital world views as acceptable identity.	one) Why?
						When would you use formal diction?
						Informal?
		Grada 10			Look at the underlined phrases. They are part of a lengthy dependent clause	
	inguage Arts,	Grade 10			("Paradoxically cyber world") that leads to an independent clause ("we unwittingly	
Table of Unit 1: Chapter 3					.") declaring that we change ourselves to produce identities acceptable to other people.	
Contents Canguage: Dictio	n				Notice how the syntax in each clause works to build a sentence that is both artful and	
Diction					meaningful.	
Diction to the word she				tion boline to		
Diction refers to the word choi	ce and style of	rexpressio	n a writer uses. Dio	tion neips to	There are several ways to vary syntax:	
establish the tone of a text. In	ere are two typ	es of dictio	on, informal and for	mai.	 Try beginning sentences in different ways. 	
Formal diction is language the	t contoino o o	phioticotod	word choices and		 Choose different types of verbs and verb tenses. 	
clong or contractions	at contains so	phisticateu	word choices and	uoes not use	 Produce sentences of differing lengths. 	
stang or contractions.					 Vary sentence types: simple, compound, complex, and compound-complex. 	
Example: The interrogation of	of the woman i	was not wh	at she had anticipa	ted and thus		
she frowned upon the occas	ion.					
					Revise the paragraph to vary its syntax, reduce its redundancy, and increase its fluidity.	
Informal diction is language th	at contains in	formal wor	d choices, contracti	ons, and	Create artful sentences that, like the ideas themselves, are complex while still being	
colloquialisms (everyday lang	uage).				clear	
Example: The lady was aske	d questions in	n a way she	e wasn't expecting,	so she got		
pretty upset.					We come to one our identifies on these we would like to have. Not these who we	
					we come to see our identities as mose we would like to have. Not mose who we	
Notice Ibn Battuta's formal did	tion. Rewrite e	each of the	three sentences so	that they	really are, we want to be someone else, we want others to see that someone else.	
reflect a more informal diction					we use social media to show another side to the world, we plur the line between	
					the private and public self. We accept ourselves based on our self-identity and not	
 It is said, that one of the Ca 	lifs of the hou	se of Abba	s was displeased v	vith the people	on our true selves.	
of Egypt, and took it into his	head to place	e over them	one of the meanes	st of his		
slaves, by way of punishme	ent, and that h	e might affe	ord an example to o	thers.		
					2+ B U 5 A · Ξ Ξ Ξ· ⊞· ∞ X ?	
BU BA	= = =·		× ?			
Enter your response here					Enter your response here.	
Enter your response nere.						

Figure 16: Connections: ELA Language lessons support development of language structure knowledge



Verbal Reasoning

The literal interpretation of a text is only part of its meaning—language is full of ambiguity, and readers often must go beyond what is explicitly stated to understand an author's implicit message. Figurative language such as, "The general was a cheetah on the prowl" must be recognized and interpreted non-literally to avoid confusion. Inferencing is required to "fill in the gaps" with logical connections between ideas: to understand the sentences "The lightning struck. The hut collapsed.", one must draw on background knowledge that lightning strikes can cause fires and that fires can cause buildings to collapse to infer that the action in the first sentence caused the result in the second sentence. (Singer, 2007).

Verbal reasoning, also called analogical reasoning, is a higher-order cognitive skill in which similarities between concepts are identified and commonalities between them are inferred within a new context (Vendetti, Matlen, Richland, & Bunge, 2015). For reading comprehension, verbal reasoning includes the ability to recognize and interpret literal versus figurative language and to know when and how to make inferences about what is unstated in a text. Thus, verbal reasoning is a strategic skill that is dependent on a reader's vocabulary (Kievit, et al., 2017) and background knowledge (Singer, 2007). Comprehension strategies instruction teaches students to be active readers who monitor their comprehension, notice when something doesn't make sense, and draw upon strategies such as rereading more closely and making inferences to repair comprehension (Kamil, et al., 2008).





Developing Verbal Reasoning with Connections: ELA

Teaching students to recognize and interpret figurative language in text is an important aspect of verbal reasoning instruction. As part of *Connection:s ELA*'s close reading *Focus On* activities, students identify, interpret, and evaluate an author's use of figurative language and literary devices, including metaphors, similes, personification, allusions, hyperboles, and euphemisms. Students also focus on strategically recognizing when they need to make inferences by combining background knowledge with textual evidence to fill the gaps in their situation model of the text (Figure 17). Students use Annotation Tools while reading to mark relevant textual evidence as guided by the Objective provided at the beginning of each close read, providing a purpose for reading and grounding the inferencing process. The Teacher Edition provides comprehension strategies for teachers to display in the classroom as a reminder for students as they are reading text, encouraging them to read actively, recognize the need to apply verbal reasoning that goes beyond the surface meaning of the text, and implement strategies to unpack the layers of meaning of the text.

CONNECTIONS] English Language Arts, Grade 7	A B	CONNECTIONS English Language Arts, Grade 12	
Table of Unit 4: Chapter 16 Context Third Read-Analyzing Fourable Language	Resources 💌 Tools 💌	Table of Unit 1: Chapter 3 Second Read: Interpreting Allusions	Resources 🕶 Tools 👻
≣ Read ∰ [®] Discuss P Focus On √ Check	Passage Notebook Teaching Support	E Read # [®] Discuss 𝒫 Focus On √ Check	Nathlask Teaching Support
Focus On: Analyzing Figurative Language Writers use many kinds of figurative Language to make their writing come alive. Simile: Compares two seemingly different things using like or as: as fast as the speed of light Durating on the score like a trunkin. Metapahor: Says that one time is another: My love for this city is a firmly rooted tree; the general was a chechan on the provide.	Our Jacko by Michael Morpurgo (short stor, 791.) 9: Hidden awy under more Christmas decorations, ym mother had found a large brown envelope. She gave it to my father. He opened it and took something out.	Interpreting Allusions An allusoina a oter and indirect reference to a person, place, bing, or idea. Allusion and depth a work's there or be a character. Objective. All you read the open as second time, boy allections by a blacksions. Highlight and table each allusion you find. Circle a name if you are unsure about or or what its. The Love Song of J. Alfred Prufnock by 1. S. Elioti guerry	Extrem Reading Capacity to capacity and and they well focus on the adjust to capacity applicing RMM visit of and any well focus on the adjust to capacity applicing RMM visit of any applications, forther uses adjust to acquidy connect well parts and any applications, the extremol ga universal life and connects, for example, initiated of sympo Tat's or adjust applications, RMM visit of the example, initiated of applications, and adjust and that to adjust connect as given by a land site to adjust any adjust and that to adjust connect as given by a land site to adjust any adjust and that the example, initiated of sympo Tat's adjust and adjust any adjust any adjust any adjust, for the example connect site site adjust for to adjust any adj
Personification: Gives human qualities to nonhuman things: The leaves danced in the fail breeze. The trees spread their arms and waved away the birds.	2 "It's nerve, ne said." I ne novebook." He turned to the first page and read out loud: "This book belongs to LL Jack Morris, actor. Shakesneare Memorial	Let us go then, you and I, When the evening is spread out against the sky Like a patient etherized upon a table;	
Autors generally use Signizable language to create in the reading back of the feeling bac	Thather, Strafford-upon-Aven. That's Our Jacobi Yaya Alifle. Then yimla's eye. Thoughtor of James neume poems I know our allows? He turned the notebook over and Jooked at the back.'' It soys, To whose remay find this please return it to the theater its Strafford, ubiers I work; or to Elife, my deen welfs, end to Torm, war Hilks on, Al Meda Cottage, Charlocole Road, Hampton Layo, I should be forwary material. Lack. Morieris, Sherwood Forsters, Yayes, Bedjam, The Naverthay, Ora-Bachy handwrithing, from a hundred years ago," my lather said, in a whisper almost.	Let up, through critin hild discript directly, 5 The mutricing reveals 0 (reveals nights in one-sight charps boths 0 and anwards treatmants with system-shalls: Stretch that follow like a tellow argument 0 of findfoos intent 10 To led you to an over-themic generiton 0, do not at, you hat is 27 0, do not at, you hat is 27 14 tu go and make our visit. 16 In the room the woman comes and go Taiking of Michelmapelo.	 Teaching Reading Strategies Remind strugging readers to use strategies to help them comprehend complex texts in each unit. Display these tips in the classroom: Preview the text before you read. Condition the title, section heads, and any graphics or pictures. Make predictions. Adjust your reading speed based on your purpose for reading. Skim text to find big ideas. Slow down to grasp details. Close reading is slower reading. Mark the text as you read. Underline main ideas and write questions in the margins. "Talk back" to the text. Visualize events, places, and information in your mind. Monitor your comprehension. Go back and reread if needed. Connect what you don't understand to what you do understand.
CCONNECTIONS.] English Language Arts, Grade 10 □ Toperat Toperat □ Toperat	Resource - The solution - The soluti	CONNECTIONS _ English Language Ant, Grade 12 Dept	Rances Contracting System Rescue Contracting System Contracting
What has not be addressed as the second sectores down the second sectores and year of the second	 by E.B. White (sees) 5703.) By spot, American had been suchting for specer as Nati Germany's Chandlow Addy Filter had used reacts, and featureating political geneohas to rouse his nation bio a warfill forces. American wither E.B. White, In his column for Harpe's Alganito, responde to the Xart philosophi by making the case for democracy. Y Aly first and genetic how affilt was with his high we call fordoon, this hady of infinite allure, this dangerous and beautiful and anhime being who reators and any solar to be an infinite presence of the second second second second parts: the instituctive freesess he experiences an animal dweller on a plant, and the practical liberise be enjoys as a privileged member of human society. The latter is, of the two, more generally undersod, more videly admined, more vidently challinged and discussed. It the practical langed 	 Interpreting Allusions Interpreting Allusions Radio as band and another defense to be parson, place, bling, or idea. Adluston to the situations. Help allusions is the alluston to the	a can ad depho a Nigit and tabel each

Figure 17: Interpreting figurative language and strategically making inferences are part of *Connections: ELA*'s close reading instructional routine for verbal reasoning development



Literacy Knowledge

Just as studying a map helps people navigate a new area, literacy knowledge about the purposes, structures, and features of print helps readers navigate, understand, and learn from text. In early reading, literacy knowledge pertains to basic concepts of print, including the idea that print carries meaning, how books should be held, and how to track print across pages (Clay, 1993). As students begin reading across a wider range of genres and text becomes more complex, explicit instruction about genre-specific text structures can support them in comprehending and retaining information from text (Hall-Mills & Marante, 2020; Hebert, Bohaty, Nelson, & Brown, 2016).

Text structure is how authors organize and connect their ideas in support of their purpose for writing. Awareness of a text's structure provides readers with a schema into which they can organize text information as they read, guiding their attention, inferences, and interpretations of the text, and supporting their retention of information after reading (Graesser & Nakamura, 1982). Literacy knowledge is genre-specific, so reading across a wide range of genres and topics can help students build and refine supportive structural schemas. Researchers have found that explicit instruction in text organization patterns, text features, and signal words that can cue readers to the patterns, and the use of graphic organizers to conceptualize structures have an impact on students' reading comprehension and retention of information (Akhondi, Malayeri, & Samad, 2011). Writing supports development of knowledge about text structure through application, which improves reading comprehension as well (Graham & Hebert, 2011).





Developing Literacy Knowledge with Connections: ELA

Connections ELA reading selections expose students to texts with a diverse range of structures, including novels, short stories, plays, poetry, memoirs, essays, reports, informational texts, speeches, news articles, and historical texts. As part of Connections: ELA's close reading instructional routine, students examine genre-specific structural features of texts. Making Connections activities that precede close reading include a focus on features such as headings and bolded words that can help students orient themselves to the structure of a text, while Focus On activities after close reading guide students through an analysis of text structure and its impact on meaning (Figure 18). For literary texts, instruction focuses on plot structure such as chronological order and flashbacks; narrative elements such as characters, settings, and conflict resolution; and structural elements specific to poetry and drama such as stanzas and acts. For informational texts, structures such as description, cause and effect, and problem and solution are examined, along with text features such as headings and key words that are clues to the text's organizational pattern. Graphic organizers are a recurring feature of Connections: ELA literary knowledge instruction, serving as schematic representations of a text's structure, and Project-Based Assessments include longer writing activities that allow students to practice text structures in their own writing.



Figure 18: *Connections: ELA* focuses students' attention on text features and structures that can help them mentally organize textual information as they read

Students learn the most when instruction is responsive to their skill diversity

Reading is a multifaceted skill made up of sub-skills that are developed and coordinated over the course of years. Thus, by the time students reach middle and high school, they come to the classroom with diverse strengths, weaknesses, knowledge, and experience. All learners are unique, and providing instruction and practice opportunities that are targeted to their specific learner profile is the most effective and equitable way to move all students towards common, grade-level goals (Biancarosa & Snow, 2006).

Neuroscience research has shown that the emotions students experience during learning have an impact on the brain's ability to remember what was taught. Instruction at a level that is too difficult results in frustration and increases the production of the stress hormone cortisol, which orients humans towards responding to threats in the immediate environment. The increase in cortisol distracts the brain from focusing on the learning objective in favor of identifying and eliminating the stressor. Novelty, on the other hand, is extremely attractive to the brain, and results in the release of dopamine, which gives feelings of pleasure and increased focus, motivation, and memory. Thus, when a learning experience is too easy or repetitive, students may become bored and forget any knowledge gained, but when a learning experience is novel and appropriate to ability, students are more likely to be engaged and retain what they learn. (Sousa & Tomlinson, 2018).

Teachers can be responsive to skill diversity in their classrooms by using deliberate practice to make learning experiences targeted and impactful for all students. Deliberate practice is an instructional approach that includes setting clear goals, conducting ongoing formative assessment to determine strengths and needs and to offer specific feedback, and providing differentiated instruction and practice opportunities that fall within the student's zone of proximal development, a level that is challenging enough to stimulate learning but not so challenging as to cause frustration (Ericsson & Pool, 2016).



Goal Setting with Connections: ELA

Attention is a limited resource, and to learn effectively, students must know where to focus their attention (Weinstein, Sumeracki, & Caviglioli, 2019). Providing learning objectives at the beginning of a lesson gives students a goal on which to focus. *Connections: ELA* lessons are organized around clear and specific learning *Objectives* that are stated at the beginning of each lesson segment, so students know the expectations. The learning objective is reinforced during the reading activity through the *Objective Lens*, which instructs the students to identify and annotate elements of the text that are directly related to the learning objective (Figure 19).

CONNE		English Language Art	s, Grade 9					
\equiv	able of Un Contents V Fin	nit 4: Chapter 17 st Read: Author's Purpose						
	ad	Discuss	A= Vocabulary	🔎 Focus On	J Check			
Auth In 1984 suffere Obj audi Writ	Author's Purpose In 1986 Elie Wiesel accepted the Nobel Peace Prize for his writing and relief work on behalf of Jews and other groups who have suffered persecution. Objective: As you read the excerpt from Elie Wiesel's Nobel Peace Prize Acceptance Speech, determine what he wants the audience to learn from his experience and underline one sentence that expresses an important idea Wiesel wishes to convey.							
Elie V by Elie (1) I am the P	Wiesel's N Wiesel (spec moved, deepl nighest there is	lobel Peace Priz ech, 730L) ly moved by your words s—that you have choses	e Acceptance Spe s, Chairman Aarvik. And ir n to bestow upon me. I kn	t is with a profound sense ow your choice transcends	of humility that I accept t s my person.	he honor—		
2 Do I do n alwa my f with	2 Do I have the right to represent the multitudes who have perished? Do I have the right to accept this great honor on their behalf? I do not. No one may speak for the dead, no one may interpret their mutilated dreams and visions. And yet, I sense their presence. I always do—and at this moment more than ever. The presence of my parents, that of my little sister. The presence of my teachers, my friends, my companions This honor belongs to all the survivors and their children, and through us, to the Jewish People with whose destiny I have always identified.							
3 I ren bewi	nember: it hap lderment I re	ppened yesterday, or et emember his anouish T	ernities ago. A young Jewi t all hannened so fast The	ish boy discovered the Kin schetto. The deportation	gdom of Night. I rememb The sealed cattle car The	er his fierv altar		

Figure 19: Connections: ELA supports goal setting with clearly stated Objectives, which are reinforced in the text with the Objective Lens



Ongoing Formative Assessment and Feedback with Connections: ELA

Understanding students' patterns of strengths and needs is key to delivering instruction that addresses skill diversity. Formative assessment, or assessment for learning, provides teachers with data on students' skill development and is used to plan and modify instruction (Wiliam, 2011). Formative assessment is often contrasted with summative assessment, which is used to draw conclusions about learning that already took place, without the intent to use the data for instructional planning or feedback. Formative assessments are informal, low stakes, and often non-standardized measures such as exit tickets and project-based assessments, which are administered frequently enough to monitor small increments of progress towards mastery of learning objectives and support timely adjustments to instruction (Biancarosa & Snow, 2006). A key aspect of formative assessment is that the data must be used as feedback to both the teacher and the students. For the teacher, formative assessment provides data on the efficacy of the prior instruction and informs future instruction. For the students, formative assessment measures their current progress and informs next steps toward mastery of the objectives.



Figure 20: Three types of formative assessment that *Connections: ELA* teachers can use to understand student skill development, provide feedback, and plan targeted instruction



Connections: ELA helps teachers pinpoint student strengths and needs with three types of formative assessments (Figure 20). Each of the three reads in the close reading routine is followed by a multiple-choice Check Quiz (in the interactive edition) that measures close reading and the focus skill outlined in the learning objective. These Check Quizzes are auto-scored so that teachers can review and respond to the results right away. Project-Based Assessments are also included with every chapter to provide multi-modal, authentic assessment of student skill development through writing, research, debate, and presentation. These rubric-graded assessments allow students to demonstrate higher-order skills that require critical thinking and synthesis of information. Teachers can add written feedback as well that is tailored to students' responses. Connect to Testing prepares students for state and national high-stakes assessments, focusing on academic vocabulary and *Focus On* skills from the chapter. When these assessments are administered digitally using the interactive edition of Connections: ELA, teachers have access to detailed, standards-based reporting available at the class and individual level (Figure 21). Teachers can view item analysis and student responses to determine individual, small group, or whole group needs for core (e.g., reteaching), intervention, and enrichment instruction. Students can also view their scores and written feedback when they log into the Connections: ELA platform, providing them with information about where they have performed well and where they can improve.

PERFECTION NEXT	PERFECTION NEXT
E Class Proficiency Report	E Student Proficiency Report
Filters for Report	Filters for Report
Class: Period 1 - English Language Arts Product: All Products	Class: Period 1 - English Language Arts Product: All Products
Student(s): All Students Standards: All Standards	Student(s): Adams, James Standards: All Standards
Dete Range: 04/01/22 🗰 thru 04/29/22 🏥 Assignments: All Assignments	Date Range: 04/01/22 m thru 04/29/22 Assignments: All Assignments
Apply Filter	Apply Filter
Class: Period 1 - English Language Arts	Class: Period 1 - English Language Arts
Student(x): All Students	Student: Adems, James
Date Range: 04/01/22 thru 04/29/22 🖶 Print 🕒 PDF 🔲 Export	Date Range: 04/01/22 thru 04/29/22
Standards Students <65 65-79 80-89 90+	Standarda Score Performance Correct
C English Language Arts 20 5 10 4 1	🖨 English Language Arts 90% 🔵 57 / 63
Reading: Literature 20 5 10 4 1	Reading: Literature 85% 17 / 20
Canguage 20 5 8 5 2	C Language 93% • 40/43
© L9-10.4 20 5 10 4 1	C L9-10.4 96% 24/25
L9-10.4.A 20 5 8 5 2	L9-10.4.A 80% 😑 4/5
L9-10.4.C 20 5 10 4 1	L9-10.4.C 100% 🔵 20/20
C L9-10.5 20 8 10 4 1	© L9-10.5 89% ● 16/18
L9-10.5.A 20 6 9 5 0	L9-10.5.A 75% 😑 6/8
L9-10.5.8 20 5 10 4 1	L9-10.5.8 100% 10/10
PERFECTION NEXT	PERFECTION NEXT*
Filters for Report Class Period 1 - English Language Arts	Filters for Report Galence Review Control Cont
Class Tended 1: Single Art 0: 43 Rescherding 5 Structures Padeat Sciences Padeat Sciences In POF Chapter 1: Single 1: Single 7: Single 3: Singl	Claim Intent 1 - Diglio Language Ats Studietty Adem, Ame Den Range 404102 thru 54/2012 Polatic Convention English Language Ats, Goods 9 Unit Unit 1 Chapter Chapter 1 Exandum Al Exantises Autigeneents State And Paul Test Policy Expose Autigeneents
Belar, Eftan 90% 9/10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	🕞 English Language Arts
Gancia, Enviy 60% 6/10 O 🗢 🗢 O O O O O 🕴 🕴	🙄 Connections English Language Arts, Ginde V
Hel, Elle	Q Uwi 1
Jones, lasbelle	Chapter1 85% 94/110 10/12 9/12 75/87
Lawis, Camila	Preview Concepts 100% 13/13 13/13

Figure 21: Detailed reports help teachers understand standards-based proficiency at the individual and classroom level



Differentiated Instruction with Connections: ELA

Teachers can differentiate instruction by varying how students access the content, the activities students undertake to engage with the content, and the ways that students can demonstrate their learning (Tomlinson, 1995). Differentiation does not require completely individualized lesson plans for each student in a class. Rather, differentiation is about learning equity: it requires that the teacher understand how students are responding to instruction and make appropriate modifications as needed to ensure that all students are making progress.

Connections: ELA facilitates manageable differentiation through point-of-use support and resources in the Teacher Edition, a supplemental English Language Learners Teacher's Resource, and student-facing supports in the Immersive Reader. In the Teacher Edition, Remediation and ELL Support features provide scaffolding suggestions that are tailored to the lessons themselves, such as breaking down a larger assignment into smaller parts, having students work on an assignment in small groups, and providing sentence frames to help ELL students respond in writing (Figure 22). The English Language Learners Teacher's Resource provides additional guidance in understanding ELLs' language levels, using heterogenous grouping to support ELLs, and making instructional modifications for beginning, intermediate, and advanced ELLs while teaching close reading, vocabulary, and reading passages (Figure 23). The Immersive Reader features in the interactive edition of Connections: ELA provide additional scaffolds and accessibility features that students can implement individually: text-to-speech, translation into more than 100 languages, and a picture dictionary to help struggling readers and ELL students access the content; and accessibility features such as text size, spacing, font, and color options help students with disabilities read online text (Figure 24).



Figure 22: *ELL Support and Remediation* teaching support is provided at point of use so teachers can provide responsive instruction targeted to their students' needs





Figure 23: English Language Learners Teacher Resources are provided to help teachers understand and support ELLs in accessing the content with instructional modifications



Figure 24: Immersive Reader features provide scaffolds that students can choose to implement as they are reading text, such as text-to-speech, picture dictionary, and translation into over 100 languages

Engagement and motivation are essential to ELA development in middle and high school

Students generally become less interested in reading and writing as they transition from elementary to middle school, particularly if they have struggled with reading or writing in the past (Kelley & Deck-er, 2009; Kear, Coffman, McKenna, & Ambrosio, 2000). Motivation to read impacts how much students read, which has a direct impact on achievement in reading comprehension (Guthrie, Wigfield, Metsala, & Cox, 1999), and students' confidence in their own writing abilities is strongly linked to their motivation to write and to their writing achievement (Pajares, 2003). Thus, providing ELA instruction that is both motivating (promoting a desire to learn) and engaging (promoting active learning) is key for middle and high school students. Self-determination theory posits that motivation is driven by three innate human needs: competence, autonomy, and relatedness. Competence comes from feeling successful in an activity, autonomy comes from feeling in control of one's own behavior, and relatedness comes from feeling connected to other people (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

Facilitating Engagement and Motivation with Connections ELA

To build a student's sense of competence, learning objectives should be clearly stated and closely aligned with performance expectations for students, with frequent monitoring of and feedback provided on student progress (Kamil, et al., 2008). *Connections: ELA* provides specific learning *Objectives* at the start of each lesson segment that are tightly aligned to items on the *Check Quizzes* available at the end of the lesson segment. The *Check Quizzes* are automatically scored, providing students with instant feedback about their performance in relation to the learning objectives. In addition, providing direct, explicit instruction with scaffolding to students can help them feel successful with challenging learning objectives and new concepts (Biancarosa & Snow, 2006). *Connections: ELA*'s close reading instructional routine uses gradual release of responsibility to support students with explicit, systematic, scaffolded instruction as they engage in productive struggle with texts, growing their capacity to engage and persevere in the development of higher-order cognitive skills (Snow & O'Connor, 2013).



To foster autonomy, students should be provided with opportunities for self-directed learning, such as allowing them to choose their own reading selections or topics for research and writing (Biancarosa & Snow, 2006). At the end of each chapter, *On Your Own* helps students integrate ideas through suggested extension activities for self-directed learning; students are presented with multiple options for reading, listening, or viewing additional resources related to the chapter's close read text. *Connections: ELA* also offers *Project-Based Assessments* that include opportunities for students to select their own topics for writing, research, debate, and presentation. In addition, the Annotation Tools in the interactive edition of *Connections: ELA* allow students to annotate text, controlling the level of scaffolding provided to them while reading via accessibility, language, and vocabulary tools, and providing them with a sense of purpose and engagement while reading (Figure 25).

CONNECTIONS, English Language Arts, Grade 9 Table of Contents Contents Contents

On Your Own: Integrating Ideas "If MLK Had Tweeted From Jail"

King's entire letter is more than 7,000 words in length. What If King had tweeted his thoughts from jail? Go online and read the USA Today article "If MLK Had Tweeted From Jail."

Civil Rights in Alabama

Alabama was at the heart of the civil rights movement. Many pivotal events occurred in this state that brought the issue of civil rights into mainstream news across the nation. Create a timeline of civil rights events that occurred in Alabama, including Ross Parks and the Montgomery Bus Boycott, the arrest of Dr. Martin Luther King Jr., the Freedom Riders, and the bombing of the 16th Street Baptist Church.

Music with a Message

Music is a powerful medium to deliver a message. Several songwriters and musicians put their protests to music during the height of the civil rights movement. Find the lyrics and listen to "Eve of Destruction" by Bary McGuire, "Blowin" in the Wind" by Bob Dylan, or "When Will We Be Paid for the Work We've Done" by The Staple Singers. The song "Pride (in the Name of Love") by U2/sontains a verse about the assassination of Dr. King.

Table of Contents Unit 4: Chapter 17 On Your Own: Integrating Ideas

On Your Own: Integrating Ideas

Author Interview

Read the transcripts or watch/listen to an interview with Tim O'Brien, author of The Things They Carried: http://www.pbs.org/newshout/bb/politics-jan-june 10-obrien_04-28/ http://www.pbc.org/newshout/bb/politics-jan-june 10-obrien_04-28/

Wartime Stories

Read other stories set during wartime or in its aftermath, such as *The Red Badge of Courage* by Stephen Crane, "An Occurrence at O/M Creek Bridge" by Ambrose Bierce, *A Farewell to Arms* by Ernest Hemingway, or "Solder's Home" by Ernest Hemingway.

Military Draft

The military draft was used during the Vietnam War. Research how the draft worked. Discover when the draft was abolished and whether the government has ever considered reinstating it.

War Movies

Watch a war movie, such as Gettysburg, Glory, Midway, or Flags of Our Fathers. Think about how the movie portrays war and soldiers: are they heroic, flawed, complicated, fatalistic?



Figure 25: On Your Own, Project-Based Assessments, and Annotation Tools give students a sense of autonomy by allowing them to choose their reading and viewing selections, projects, and the level of scaffolding they need while reading



Students need to experience a sense of relatedness to feel motivated and engaged: they need to feel that their literacy experiences are relevant to their lives or to current events and to engage with their peers in collaborative learning activities (Kamil, et al., 2008). The text selections in Connections: ELA are organized by unit around thought-provoking Essential Questions, which encourage students to think about and make connections to the texts they read. Questions like "How are friendships built and broken?," "What strikes fear into the heart?," and "What informs your decisions?" target issues adolescents will be faced with as they learn and grow, and texts related to these topics make the reading relevant and meaningful to learners. Further, texts that accurately and respectfully depict a range of diverse racial, ethnic, and gender groups foster a sense of belonging and a better understanding of others (Armstrong, 2021). Connections: ELA texts include representation from a diverse set of authors, topics, characters, settings, and cultures so that students have an opportunity to see themselves and others in what they read. Finally, collaborative learning activities, such as guided discussions, promote relatedness, actively engage students in comprehending and analyzing the text, and provide additional opportunities for feedback when students respond to one another's comments. Connections: ELA's close reading routine provides Text-Based Discussion Questions to foster group and partner conversations about the text; Project-Based Assessments include collaborative activities like a Round-Table Discussion; and online discussion questions are available as well through the Collaboration Wall, which allows students to view and respond to one another's answers to text-related prompts (Figure 26).

ONNECTIONS J English Language Arts, Grade 7		CCONNECTIONS, English Language Arts, Grade a		
Table of Unit 1: Chapter 3 Contents Project 2: Roundfable Discussion		Table of Virit 4: Chapter 19 Contents - Project 1: Roundrable Discussion		
Project-Based Assessments Roundtable Discussion Participate in a roundtable discussion on the following question	i as posed by the author in the text;	Project-Based Assessment Roundtable Discussion The study of and devigence that late to many revelations about the teenage train. Science has revealed that the way a teenager makes decisions and experiences this is very different too in the original does. This concert has implications for the justice system, for achools, and for date governments that make lates about when teenagers and dive, original volve.		
Did the people in the stories do the right thing by keeping Lucy	and Katina in captivity? Why or why not?	Participate in a roundtable discussion on the following question:		
In a roundtable discussion, all students are equal and everyone one another. The teacher or a discussion leader may sit in the m challenge! You will be evaluated on the following:	participates. Arrange your seats in a circle so that all participants can see hiddle. Come to the discussion with an open mind and be prepared for a	Should the government always trial ternapers the same as it does adults? As you participate in the discussion, you will need to support your conclusion with details from the charge socients that will help you discussion it we quarterior. Use a data start such as the one below to record details an	ter text. Also, you must find and read two other relia d how they support your conclusion. Use another s	
Expect	ations for Discussion	of paper to record your responses. Also, record citation information for both sources you find on your ow	n.	
Listening	Speaking	Detail from the chapter text or my own research	How it supports my opinion	
sten respectfully, Speak at least two times. ook at speakar. Gold with references. As notes on what the speakar is saying. Offer reasons to support your point of view. The down follow-up questions. Ele open to other students' commente and questions.		In a roundable discussion, all students are equal and everyte participates. Arrange your seats in a cit teacher or a discussion leader may all in the middle. Come to the discussion with an open mind and be You will be evaluated on the following:	rcle so that all participants can see one another. Tr e prepared for a challenge!	
Before the discussion, find two other sources that will help you a information that can be used as evidence to support your answe	answer the question. Make a copy or print out the sources. Highlight er to the discussion question.	Expectations for Discussion Listening Speaking		
Table of Unit2 Claster 9 Table of Unit2 Claster 9 Project 1: Aundable Discussion.		CONNECTIONS) English Language Arts, Grade 12 Chapter 2: Second Read: Examining Dialog V	Classes Resources V Ass	
Roundtable Discussion			Notebook Passage	
articipate in a roundtable discussion on the following topic:		Discussion Questions		
Delineate and valuate Bety Priedan's argument that able American women should use their energy loward a meaningful pursuit beyond that of wile and mother. Challenge the author's dams where appropriate. There may be a range of positions and all are to be respected Amage your best in a critic abult all participates can be an abmer. The statemate be a range of positions and all are to be respected Amage your able in a critic abult all participates can be an abmer. The statemate be a range of positions and all are to be respected Amage your observed, communicating your loss in a logical order. Pay special attention to diction (enunciation, choice of words), volume, syntax (how words are put tophen), and rate of seech.		Directions: Answer each of the following questions and share them with your classmates.	Similar <	
		 This passage is written in the third-person point of view. Analyze the narration more deeply, noting whether it is conniscent (following all characters) or limited (adhering closely to one character). Give Examples. 	Robert Methven 4 3 I think Jesse brings up a good point. I agree with this historic context. Like - Repty 2d	
Expectat	ions for Discussion	[≫] B U 8 A = Ξ Ξ Ξ ∞ X ?	Jesse Deming	
Listening	Speaking	The author wrote this text in 3rd person limited. We only see Abdul's	That's the quote I found Ro	
Listen respectfully. Look at the speaker. Follow ket references. Take nets on what the speaker is saying. Write down pertinent follow-up questions.	Speak at least two times using a calm and curious register, tone, vocabulary, and voice. Refer to least the support conclusions. Ask pertiment questions. Explain and just (offer reasons to support your opinion).	perspective in the story. In line 10, the author writes "Already he was mule-brained with panic". This shows Abdul's feelings and thoughts.	Like - Keply 1d	
Prepare for your discussion by evaluating Betty Friedan's arguments. Whic	Invite comment.	help the give the reader a sense of his character's attitude and how he thinks? Give Examples		

Figure 26: In-person and online discussions give students a chance to relate to one another, making instruction more personal and engaging

PERFECTION LEARNING[®]



Connecting research and practice with *Connections: ELA*

Knowing that so many middle and high school students struggle as readers and writers, and understanding the short- and long-term consequences of poor reading and writing skills, educators, caregivers, and stakeholders have a duty to provide students with the best ELA instruction possible to ensure they develop the literacy skills they need to succeed and thrive in college, career, and life. The Science of Reading and the Learning Sciences offer research-based insight into how people learn in general, and how they develop language and literacy skills specifically. With explicit, systematic instruction in key literacy skills that is responsive to skill diversity, engagement, and motivation, students can develop the advanced language, literacy, and critical thinking skills that are the goals of middle and high school. The research-based instructional approaches found in *Connections: ELA* can propel students toward becoming thoughtful, independent readers, writers, and thinkers.





References

- ACT. (2022, December 12). Profile Report National Graduating Class 2022. From ACT: https://www.act.org/content/dam/act/unsecured/documents/2022/2022-National-ACT-Profile-Report.pdf
- Akhondi, M., Malayeri, F. A., & Samad, A. A. (2011). How to teach expository text structure to facilitate reading comprehension. *The Reading Teacher*, 64(5) 368–372.
- Anderson, L. W., & Krathwohl, D. R. (2001). A taxonomy for teaching, learning, and assessing: A revision of Bloom's taxonomy of educational objectives. New York: Longman.
- Armstrong, A. L. (2021, December 1). *The representation of social groups in U.S. educational materials and why it matters: A research overview.* From New America: https://www.newamerica.org/education-policy/reports/the-representation-of-social-groups-in-u-s-educational-materials-and-why-it-matter/
- Beck, I. L., McKeown, M. G., & Kucan, L. (2013). *Bringing words to life: Robust vocabulary instruction, 2nd ed.* New York: The Guilford Press.
- Biancarosa, G., & Snow, C. E. (2006). Reading next—A vision for action and research in middle and high school literacy: A report to Carnegie Corporation of New York (2nd ed.). Washington, DC: Alliance for Excellent Education.
- Bloom, B. S. (1956). *Taxonomy of educational objectives, Handbook I: The cognitive domain.* New York: David McKay Co. Inc.
- Bowers, P. N., Kirby, J. R., & Deacon, S. H. (2010). The effects of morphological instruction on literacy skills: A systematic review of the literature. *Review of Educational Research*, 80(2), 144–179.
- Brown, S., & Kappes, L. (2012). Implementing the Common Core Standards: A primer on "close reading of text". Washington, DC: Aspen Institute.
- Cain, K., & Oakhill, J. (2011). Matthew effects in young readers: Reading comprehension and reading experience aid vocabulary development. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 44(5), 431–443.
- Carson, R. (1962). Silent Spring. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- Clay, M. (1993). An observation survey of early literacy achievement. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Cowen, C. D. (2022, November 23). *What is structured literacy?* From International Dyslexia Association: https://dyslexiaida.org/what-is-structured-literacy/
- Cunningham, A. E., & Stanovich, K. E. (1997). Early reading acquisition and its relation to reading experience and ability 10 years later. *Developmental Psychology*, 33(6), 934–945.



- Ericsson, A., & Pool, R. (2016). *Peak: Secrets from the new science of expertise.* Boston: Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- Fisher, D. (2014). Close reading as an intervention for struggling middle school readers. *Journal of Adolescent and Adult Literacy*, 57(5), 367–376.
- Fisher, D., Frey, N., & Hattie, J. (2016). *Visible learning for literacy, Grades K–12: Implementing the practices that work best to accelerate student learning.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin.
- Goulden, R., Nation, P., & Read, J. (1990). How large can a receptive vocabulary be? *Applied Linguistics*, 11, 341–363.
- Graesser, A. C., & Nakamura, G. V. (1982). The impact of a schema on comprehension and memory. *Psychology of Learning and Motivation*, 16, 59–109.
- Graesser, A. C., McNamara, D. S., Louwerse, M. M., & Cai, Z. (2004). Coh-Metrix: Analysis of text on cohesion and language. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, and Computers,* 36, 193–202.
- Graham, S., & Hebert, M. (2010). *Writing to read: Evidence for how writing can improve reading. A Carnegie Corporation Time to Act Report.* Washington, DC: Alliance for Excellent Education.
- Graham, S., & Hebert, M. (2011). Writing to read: A meta-analysis of the impact of writing and writing instruction on reading. *Harvard Educational Review*, 81(4), 710–744.
- Graham, S., Liu, X., Bartlett, B., Ng, C., Harris, K. R., Aitken, A., . . . Talukdar, J. (2017). Reading for writing: A meta-analysis of the impact of reading interventions on writing. *Review of Educational Research*, 88(2), 243–284.
- Greenleaf, C. R., & Heller, R. (2007). *Literacy instruction in the content areas: Getting to the core of middle and high school improvement.* Washington, DC: Alliance for Excellent Education.
- Guthrie, J. T., Wigfield, A., Metsala, J. L., & Cox, K. E. (1999). Motivational and cognitive predictors of text comprehension and reading amount. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 3(3), 231–256.
- Hall-Mills, S. S., & Marante, L. M. (2020). Explicit text structure instruction supports expository text comprehension for adolescents with learning disabilities: A systematic review. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 45(1), 55–68.
- Hebert, M., Bohaty, J. J., Nelson, J. R., & Brown, J. (2016). The effects of text structure instruction on expository reading comprehension: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 108(5), 609–629.
- Janus, T. M. (2017). The impact of a close reading approach on the comprehension level of English I students at Wavers High School (Doctoral dissertation, University of South Carolina).



- Kamil, M. L., Borman, G. D., Dole, J., Kral, C. C., Salinger, T., & Torgesen, J. (2008).
 Improving adolescent literacy: Effective classroom and intervention practices: A Practice Guide (NCEE #2008-4027). Washington, DC: National Center for
 Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Institute of Education Sciences,
 U.S. Department of Education.
- Kear, D. J., Coffman, G. A., McKenna, M. C., & Ambrosio, A. L. (2000). Measuring attitude toward writing: A new tool for teachers. *The Reading Teacher*, 54(1), 10–23.
- Kelley, M. J., & Decker, E. O. (2009). The current state of motivation to read among middle school students. *Reading Psychology*, 30(5), 466–485.
- Kievit, R. A., Lindenberger, U., Goodyer, I. M., Jones, P. B., Fonagy, P., Bullmore, E. T., . . . Dolan, R. J. (2017). Mutualistic coupling between vocabulary and reasoning supports cognitive development during late adolescence and early adulthood. *Psychological Science*, 28(10), 1419–1431.
- Kintsch, W. (1988). The role of knowledge in discourse comprehension: A constructionintegration model. *Psychological Review*, 163–182.
- Kintsch, W. (2009). Learning and constructivism. In S. Tobias, & T. M. Duffy, *Constructivist instruction*, 235–253. New York: Routledge.
- Metametrics. (2022, November 11). *Determine the reading level of a text.* From Lexile.com: https://lexile.com/educators/tools-to-support-reading-at-school/tools-todetermine-a-books-complexity/the-lexile-analyzer/
- Moats, L. C. (2020). Teaching reading is rocket science, 2020: What expert teachers of reading should know and be able to do. Washington, DC: American Federation of Teachers.
- National Governors Association Center for Best Practices & Council of Chief State School Officers. (2010). *Common Core State Standards for English language arts and literacy in history/social studies, science, and technical subjects.* Washington, DC: Authors.
- National Governor's Association Center for Best Practices & Council of Chief State School Officers. (2010). Common Core State Standards for English language arts and literacy in history/social studies, science, and technical subjects. Appendix A: Research supporting key elements of the standards. Washington, DC: Authors.
- Nippold, M. A. (1998). *Later language development: The school-age and adolescent years, 2nd ed.* Austin, TX: Pro-Ed.
- Nippold, M. A. (2017). Reading comprehension deficits in adolescents: Addressing underlying language abilities. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools,* 48(2), 125–131.
- Paddle, H., & Woolett, O. (2020). Close reading across the curriculum. Literacy Learning: *The Middle Years*, 28(3), 53–56.



- Pajares, F. (2003). Self-efficacy beliefs, motivation, and achievement in writing: A review of the literature. *Reading and Writing Quarterly*, 19,139–158.
- Rasinski, T. V. (2004). *Assessing reading fluency.* Honolulu, HI: Pacific Resources for Education and Learning.
- Recht, D. R., & Leslie, L. (1988). Effect of prior knowledge on good and poor readers' memory of text. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 80(1), 16.
- Reder, S. (2010). *Adult literacy development and economic growth.* Washington, DC: National Institute for Literacy.
- Rumelhart, D. E. (1980). Schemata: The building blocks of cognition. In R. J. Spiro, & et al., *Theoretical issues in reading comprehension,* 33–58. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 68–78.
- Scarborough, H. S. (2001). Connecting early language and literacy to later reading (dis) abilities: Evidence, theory, and practice. In S. Neuman, & D. Dickinson, *Handbook for research in early literacy*, 97–110). New York: Guilford Press.
- Schacter, D. L. (2012). Constructive memory: Past and future. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 14(1), 7–18.
- Schneider, W., Korkel, J., & Weinert, F. E. (1989). Domain-specific knowledge and memory performance: A comparison of high- and low-aptitude children. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 81(3), 306–312.
- Shanahan, T. (2006). Relations among oral language, reading, and writing development.
 In C. MacArthur, S. Graham, & J. Fitzgerald, *Handbook of writing research*, 171–183.
 New York: Guilford.
- Singer, M. (2007). Inference processing in discourse comprehension. In M. G. Gaskel, *The Oxford handbook of psycholinguistics*, 343–359. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Snow, C. E., & Uccelli, P. (2009). The challenge of academic language. In D. R. Olson, & N. Torrance, *The Cambridge handbook of literacy*, 112–133. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Snow, C., & O'Connor, C. (2013). *Close reading and far-reaching classroom discussion: Fostering a vital connection.* Newark, DE: International Reading Association.
- Sousa, D. A., & Tomlinson, C. A. (2018). *Differentiation and the brain (2nd ed.)*. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree Press.
- Stanovich, K. E. (1986). Matthew effects in reading: Some consequences of individual differences in the acquisition of literacy. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 21, 360–407.
- Swanborn, M. S., & de Glopper, K. (1999). Incidental word learning while reading: A meta-analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, 69(3), 261–285.



- The Reading League. (2022, November 11). *Science of Reading: Defining Guide.* From https://www.thereadingleague.org/what-is-the-science-of-reading/defining-guide-ebook/
- Tomlinson, C. A. (1995). *Differentiating instruction for advanced learners in the mixedability middle school classroom. ERIC Digest E536.* Reston, VA: ERIC Clearinghouse on Disabilities and Gifted Education.
- U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics. (2022, November 23). *National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) 2022 Reading Assessment.* From https://www.nationsreportcard. gov/highlights/reading/2022/
- UNESCO. (2022, November 23). *Literacy.* From UNESCO: https://en.unesco.org/themes/ literacy
- Vendetti, M. S., Matlen, B. J., Richland, L. E., & Bunge, S. A. (2015). Analogical reasoning in the classroom: Insights from cognitive science. *Mind, Brain, and Education*, 9(2), 100–106.
- Webb, S., & Nation, P. (2017). *How vocabulary is learned*. Cambridge: Oxford University Press.
- Weinstein, Y., Sumeracki, M., & Caviglioli, O. (2019). *Understanding how we learn: A visual guide.* New York: Routledge.
- Wiliam, D. (2011). What is assessment for learning? Studies in Educational Evaluation, 37(1), 3–14.
- Willingham, D. (2017). *The reading mind: A cognitive approach to understanding how the mind reads.* San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.



PERFECTION LEARNING®

Kathleen Richards is a Senior Learning Scientist who specializes in literacy and language development. She has extensive experience with designing and evaluating literacy and language assessments and curricula to support teachers in delivering high-quality, research-based instruction. She has led research and development on assessment and instruction for both technology-enhanced and print-based language and literacy education programs. Her work emphasizes integrating the science of reading and learning sciences principles into engaging and effective teaching and learning experiences. Kathleen holds a master's degree in Linguistics from the Graduate Center at the City University of New York and a bachelor's degree in Psychology from New York University.